Evalulating Contraception for Inclusion in Health Benefits Packages: Conceptual Issues and a Proposed Analytical Framework

Rachel Silverman and Julia Kaufman

Abstract

As low- and middle-income countries advance towards universal health coverage (UHC), the family planning community increasingly recognizes that inclusion within health benefits packages (HBP)—a cornerstone of UHC policy—may be essential for the sustainability of family planning financing. Designing HBPs requires weighing competing priorities within the health sector and ensuring alignment between the cost of the package and the reality of finite resources. However, the family planning and health financing communities have remained largely siloed. Better engagement is needed between advocates for contraceptive access and health policymakers so that decisionmakers can effectively and equitably weigh the costs, savings, and value of contraception to inform benefit package design.

This paper offers an approach that can help donors, governments, and family planning advocates evaluate contraception for inclusion in HBPs, or—more broadly—for subsidization with public funds. First, it describes relevant methodological challenges, including the need to address the non-health benefits of contraception, model method choice, and conceptualize comparators for analysis. Second, it synthesizes evidence on the cost-effectiveness of contraceptive services and finds that contraception is often cost-saving. Third, it reviews the current state of knowledge about the status of contraception in HBPs. Finally, it proposes for further discussion an analytical framework for the design of a contraceptive benefits package within different settings. By engaging in health benefits design, the family planning community and civil society can engage in more effective advocacy and better ensure that those with the greatest health needs are given due consideration within a broader context of resource constraints and competing priorities.

Center for Global Development 2055 L Street NW Fifth Floor Washington DC 20036 202-416-4000 www.cgdev.org

This work is made available under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 license.



CGD Policy Paper 202 January 2021

Evaluating Contraception for Inclusion in Health Benefits Packages: Conceptual Issues and a Proposed Analytical Framework

Rachel Silverman and Julia Kaufman Center for Global Development

The Center for Global Development is grateful for contributions from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation in support of this work.

We would like to thank all colleagues who participated in a February 2020 workshop for helping to develop and advance the ideas and findings discussed throughout the paper. Thanks also to Felice Apter, Janeen Madan Keller, and an anonymous reviewer for comments and feedback on an earlier draft.

Rachel Silverman and Julia Kaufman, 2021. "Evaluating Contraception for Inclusion in Health Benefits Packages: Conceptual Issues and a Proposed Analytical Framework." CGD Policy Paper 202. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/evaluating-contraception-inclusion-health-benefits-packages-conceptual-issues-and

Center for Global Development 2055 L Street NW Washington, DC 20036

> 202.416.4000 (f) 202.416.4050

The Center for Global Development works to reduce global poverty and improve lives through innovative economic research that drives better policy and practice by the world's top decision makers. Use and dissemination of this Policy Paper is encouraged; however, reproduced copies may not be used for commercial purposes. Further usage is permitted under the terms of the Creative Commons License.

www.cgdev.org

The views expressed in CGD Policy Papers are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the board of directors, funders of the Center for Global Development, or the authors' respective organizations.

Contents

1. Introduction: Linking contraceptive services to national budgets and priorities	2
2. Conceptual and methodological challenges	4
2.1 Non-health benefits of contraception	5
2.2 Valuing method choice	6
2.3 Fewer births or desired birth spacing?	6
2.4 The comparator: What if the HBP excludes contraception?	8
3. Existing evidence on the cost-effectiveness and budgetary implications of contraception	10
3.1 Rapid review: Cost-effectiveness of contraception	10
3.2 Budgetary implications of contraceptive coverage	15
4. Contraceptive coverage in HBPs and UHC: What do we know?	16
4.1 Conceptualizing how contraceptives fit in HBPs and UHC	16
4.2 Recommendations and guidance for contraceptive coverage in HBPs	17
4.3 Status of contraceptive coverage in LMIC HBPs	18
5. The way forward	19
5.1 Proposed analytical framework	19
5.2 Context-specific approaches to operationalize the framework	21
5.3 Valuing method choice	22
6. Conclusion	23
References	24
Appendix 1. Workshop participants	43
Appendix 2. PRISMA flow diagram of search strategy	45

1. Introduction: Linking contraceptive services to national budgets and priorities

A growing number of low- and middle-income country (LMIC) governments are designing reforms to advance progress towards universal health coverage (UHC), wherein all citizens would enjoy access to a minimum set of essential health benefits without financial hardship. Family planning leaders increasingly recognize that inclusion within health benefits packages (HBP) may be essential for the long-term sustainability of family planning financing (Eldridge and Hansen Staples 2018). However, the process of defining HBPs requires weighing competing priorities within the health sector and ensuring alignment between the cost of the package and the reality of limited budgetary resources; cost-effectiveness criteria are often used to prioritize interventions for public subsidy (Hayati et al. 2018).

Family planning services in LMICs are often organized and delivered through vertical programs with dedicated or earmarked funding that relies heavily on donors and NGO implementers; donor resources account for 34 percent—or \$152 million—of the total \$447 million in public sector spending on contraceptive supplies in lower- and lower-middleincome countries, with an additional \$648 million spent in the private sector (CGA 2019). Some issues related to vertical financing, as well the potential bias of decisionmakers towards curative services versus prevention and promotion, are not unique to family planning; the integration of all vertical programs into UHC is complex, poorly understood, and unique to country contexts (Glassman et al. 2020). Nonetheless, some LMICs have excluded contraceptive services from UHC schemes with the justification that they are available through other mechanisms, fragmenting service provision. Dependency challenges are further exacerbated by direct financing of recurrent costs, such as commodities, by donors (Appleford and RamaRao 2019). Family planning donors have yet to require co-financing, hampering incentives and accountability for countries to invest in contraceptive services and exacerbating domestic funding challenges (Pharos 2020; Glassman and Silverman 2016). Support for contraceptive services from domestic resources—and particularly through inclusion in HBPs—is critical to sustainability; yet given highly constrained domestic resource envelopes and many competing priorities both within and outside the health sector, generating these resources requires effectively engaging with ministries of health and finance.

Comparing contraception to other health interventions is technically challenging and fraught with methodological, conceptual, and ethical challenges. Existing evidence suggests that contraception is highly cost-effective and often cost saving, meaning that contraceptive coverage likely allows for a more comprehensive HBP, as opposed to crowding out other health services. Yet, there is generally a lack of cost-effectiveness evidence on the health impacts of contraception as measured by DALYs in LMICs (see Box 1 for definitions of key concepts); most evidence comes from high-income country (HIC) settings and employs contraceptive-specific outcome measures that do not facilitate comparison with other services, hindering HBP and UHC policy relevance. Further, the benefits of contraception are not exclusively or even mostly based on their direct health impact—but instead are outweighed by savings to the health system realized by averting unintended pregnancies and

associated costs, plus spillover impacts on schooling outcomes and gender equity, among other benefits (Silverman 2017).

Beyond these challenges, the family planning community has not yet aligned internally on an appropriate approach for prioritizing among contraceptive products and services in the most resource-constrained settings—for example, the potential tradeoff between covering a smaller population with greater choice of methods, versus a larger population with just two or three methods. Prior efforts have not defined conceptual principles for designing contraceptive benefits packages in different settings, nor considered how to prioritize among contraceptive services and between contraceptive services and other health benefits.

Nonetheless, advocates for contraceptive access must be equipped to help decisionmakers—and particularly health financing counterparts—weigh the costs, savings, and value of contraceptives to inform benefit package design. This should include an economic modelling approach that enables comparison both between contraceptive services and with respect to other health interventions.

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased pressure on government budgets and sharpened the need for evidence-based prioritization of health expenditure. Many countries are beginning to see steep and protracted drops in government revenues, higher debt levels, price inflation for commodities, and vicious cycles of out-of-pocket (OOP) expenses to cover health needs amid rising poverty rates (Gheorghe et al. 2020). LMIC governments must grapple with how to address the direct health impacts of COVID-19, minimize its consequences on other health services, protect health workers at the frontline, and mitigate the pandemic-induced economic shock.

The pandemic also complicates planned "transitions" from global health assistance mechanisms based on long-term economic growth (Silverman 2018). Economic contractions in LMICs have increased the need for external assistance and will likely extend the timeline for crossing GDP/capita eligibility thresholds. (In some cases, particularly sharp recessions may cause "graduated" countries to become aid-eligible once again, effectively "detransitioning".) In the near-term, continued donor support for contraceptives and other sexual and reproductive healthcare will be essential to sustain hard-fought health gains. Yet high-income donor countries are themselves experiencing economic downturns and domestic health and fiscal crises, all of which are likely to put pressure on aid budgets. In this context, development assistance for sexual and reproductive health will need to be carefully prioritized and channeled in ways that maximize efficiency and effectiveness, partnering with countries to define and fully fund a national HBP of high-impact products and interventions, including contraception. In the long run, inclusion of contraception in public budgets and within HBPs for UHC will be essential for the sustainability of access.

This paper seeks to inform evidence-based prioritization in reproductive health within this increasingly challenging context, offering an approach that can help donors, governments, and family planning advocates evaluate contraception for inclusion in HBPs, or, more

broadly, for subsidization with public funds. It draws from a preliminary workshop¹ held by the Center for Global Development in February 2020 with members of the health financing and family planning communities and proceeds in four parts. First, we describe conceptual and methodological challenges in evaluating contraception for inclusion in HBPs. Second, we synthesize existing evidence on the cost-effectiveness of contraceptive services. Third, we review the current state of knowledge about the status of contraception in HBPs, including international guidance and recommendations. Finally, we propose for further discussion an analytical framework for the design of a contraceptive benefits package within different settings. Our goal is not to offer a prescriptive solution, but instead to surface analytical challenges, lay out unresolved questions, and propose new ways forward.

2. Conceptual and methodological challenges

With respect to contraception, the HBP must address two fundamental questions: (1) will contraception be covered at all? and (2) if yes, which methods will be made available? (Silverman 2017). Cost-effectiveness analysis, HTA, and other economic assessments are commonly used to inform which services the HBP will include (see Box 1 for definitions of relevant terms), but myriad contraceptive-specific methodological issues emerge when evaluating the cost-benefit characteristics of contraception. These include social benefits beyond health; valuing method choice; distinguishing between averted pregnancies and birth spacing; and defining the appropriate comparator to HBP coverage. We discuss each of these issues in the following sections.

Importantly, we limit our discussion to the use of contraception for the *purpose of preventing unintended pregnancies*. We do not address use of contraceptive health technologies for non-contraceptive purposes, e.g., prevention of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (barrier methods); or treatment of menstrual bleeding disorders and dysmenorrhea (hormonal methods), among others.

-

¹ Participants at CGD's February 2020 workshop are listed in Appendix 1. We are grateful for their input and feedback, which have informed the contents of this paper. However, participants do not necessarily endorse all components of this paper, nor do the contents of this paper constitute a policy commitment by any party. All errors and omissions are our own.

Box 1. Health benefits package design terms

Budget holder: a party or institution with authority over a pot of financial resources and tasked with its use and dissemination. Spending on contraception is often split between multiple budget holders, ranging from private insurers, social health insurance payers, vertical national programs, donors, and individuals.

Budget impact analysis (BIA): a systematic process to evaluate the net cost or savings of adopting an intervention for a budget holder.*

Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA): a systematic process to calculate and compare costs and benefits, by key outcomes, of a program, decision, or policy. In health, benefits are usually measured by disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) or quality-adjusted life years (QALYs).*

Cost-saving: An intervention is considered "cost-saving" if, relative to the comparator, it reduces total health costs, and if it improves health, or at least does not make health worse.

Cost-effectiveness threshold: a quantity that represents the subjective monetary value of averting one DALY. Analyses compare estimated cost-effectiveness ratios to this threshold to determine if the intervention represents good value.[†]

Health technology assessment (HTA): the systematic evaluation of properties, effects, and impacts of a health technology.[‡]

Disability-Adjusted Life Year (DALY): The DALY is a summary measure of public health widely used to quantify burden of disease. The WHO defines 1 DALY as equivalent to 1 lost year of healthy life. DALYs are calculated as the sum of years of healthy life lost due to disability (YLD) and years of life lost (YLL) due to mortality. Years of life lost is $YLL = N \times L$, where N is number of deaths, and L is the standard life expectancy at age of death in years. Years lost due to disability is $YLD = P \times DW$, where P is the condition's proportion of the population with the condition, and DW is the condition's disability weight.[‡]

Quality-Adjusted Life Year (QALY): QALYs capture service impact related to both length of life and impact on health-related quality of life (HRQol) (i.e. mortality and morbidity). QALYs are calculated by multiplying the duration of time spent in a health state by the HRQoL weight (i.e. utility score) associated with that health state.§

Sources: *Glassman, Giedion, and Smith 2017; †Tufts CEVR CEA Registry Glossary; ‡World Health Organization; \$Whitehead and Ali 2010.

2.1 Non-health benefits of contraception

Almost all health services generate some non-health benefits, but contraception is unique in that the direct health impact of pregnancy prevention significantly understates the social value of providing these services. Empirical evidence from a range of countries traces a

direct line between access to family planning and women's increased schooling (Singer Babiarz, Miller, and Valente 2017; Angeles, Guilkey, and Mroz 2005; Hock 2007), labor force participation and occupational choice (Bailey, Hershbein, and Miller 2012; Bailey 2006; Miller 2005; Goldin and Katz 2002), and overall economic growth (Hsieh et al. 2019; Woetzel et al. 2016). By isolating the effect of contraceptive availability from other factors, research has demonstrated that access to contraceptives has a causal relationship to women's educational achievement and economic empowerment (Silverman, Birdsall, and Glassman 2017).

Though health impact alone will typically be sufficient to justify inclusion of contraception in the HBP (see further discussion below), the cross-sectoral benefits of contraception can in theory pose a challenge for contraceptive financing. Contraception is delivered via the health sector; in turn, ministries of health (broadly speaking) are tasked with improving healthcare access and health outcomes—not for boosting educational achievement or productivity. If educational, gender equity, and productivity benefits justify higher investment in contraception than health impact alone, the additional resources should, in theory, come from other ministerial budgets.

2.2 Valuing method choice

A second methodological challenge is how to value method choice. Modern contraceptive methods range from short-acting methods (including hormonal pills, injectables, condoms, patches, rings, diaphragms, and spermicides) to long-acting reversible (implants and IUDs) and permanent methods (male and female sterilization). The development and use of new self-care products, such as self-injected contraception, is also on the rise (Brady et al. 2020). Long-acting methods are more effective at preventing pregnancy and generally more cost-effective than other reversible methods but expanding method availability overall is known to increase contraceptive usage and efficacy (Ross and Stover 2013). Likewise, contraceptive discontinuation has been found to account for about one-third of unintended births in a selection of 36 countries (Jain and Winfrey 2017). While the family planning community is unanimous in its support for method choice as a quality and rights imperative, they have not aligned behind an approach to clearly define and quantify the value of method choice or articulated the minimum acceptable degree of choice within an HBP. (We consider prior efforts in further detail later in the paper.)

2.3 Fewer births or desired birth spacing?

To assess the cost-effectiveness of contraception within the health sector, policymakers must be able to weigh the full costs of service provision (contraceptive commodities, health worker labor, etc.) against the benefits from preventing unintended pregnancies. Health sector benefits from averted unintended pregnancies include (1) the health benefits of contraception; and (2) cost savings to the health systems.

Averted unintended pregnancies can be sorted into one of four main categories, each with different averted costs and health impacts:

- Preventing an unintended pregnancy that would have otherwise ended in abortion averts costs related to abortion and post-abortion care, as well as health risks (morbidity and mortality) from unsafe abortions (which are significant in many LMICs) (<u>Barot 2018</u>).
- 2. Preventing an unintended pregnancy that would have otherwise ended in a miscarriage or stillbirth may avert maternal complications (morbidity and mortality) and health system costs associated with maternal care. Miscarriages and stillbirths may also cause psychological distress, stigma and exclusion, intimate partner violence, and other negative health consequences (e.g., ectopic pregnancies) (Cacciatore 2013).

Among unintended pregnancies that end in a live birth:

- 3. Preventing an unintended pregnancy that would have otherwise increased a woman's lifetime total fertility rate (TFR) averts all costs associated with pregnancy, childbirth, and child health, as well as all possible maternal health implications and child health effects associated with maternal illness or death.
- 4. Preventing an unintended pregnancy that changes timing of pregnancy/birth but leaves TFR unchanged averts the marginal costs and health impacts associated with increased risks of close birth spacing and discounts other costs by pushing them into the future (Rustein and Winter 2014; Conde-Aguelo, Rosas-Bermúdez, and Kafury-Goeta 2006). Prevention of mistimed pregnancies can also avert negative health consequences from riskier pregnancies, such as those among adolescents (WHO 2020; Shan et al. 2018). As articulated by Montouchet and Trussell (2013), "Not all unintended pregnancies are unwanted; most are mistimed, and would have occurred as intended births at a later date." While recent data on this topic is scant, studies in India and Jordan estimate that roughly 65 and 52 percent of unplanned pregnancies are mistimed, respectively (Dutta, Shekhar, and Prashad 2015; Johnson, al Zoubi, and Wulfe 2004). Research from the US suggests that between 74 to 60 percent of unplanned pregnancies are mistimed (Chandra et al. 2005; D'Angelo et al. 2004).

Jayantunga (2018), Trussell et al. (2013), Montouchet and Trussel (2013), Burlone et al. (2012), and Trussell et al. (2009) represent the few studies that differentiate between categories 3 and 4. Figure 1 shows the model used by Burlone et al. in 2012 to assess the costs and outcomes of a proposed plan for expanded contraceptive insurance coverage in Oregon, which found that extending contraceptive coverage would save an additional \$489 per woman enrolled over 5 years while increasing QALYs (rates of mistimed pregnancies are incorporated into the discounting of unintended birth costs). Beyond these outliers, most current modelling tools implicitly assume that an averted unintended pregnancy will fall into category 3. This may overstate the health benefits and savings associated with prevention of an unintended pregnancy.

Vaginal delivery

Delivery

Cesarean

DMPA

TAB

Ectopic

Steritization

Combined hormonal contraception

Steritization

Combined hormonal contraception

Condoms

Maintain contraceptive coverage at <185% FPL

Women 185-399% FPL

Women 185-399% FPL

Den't contracept

Don't Contracep

Figure 1. Markov model comparing pregnancies, costs and QALYs with two alternate contraceptive insurance coverage strategies

Source: Burlone et al. 2012

Notes: All branches lead to same outcomes, truncated for clarity. FPL = Federal Poverty Level. SAB = spontaneous abortion. TAB = induced abortion. See full article for all details.

A final complexity here lies with women's subjective experience of unintended pregnancies. Even when a pregnancy is technically unplanned, many women may ultimately embrace the pregnancy and welcome it as a positive life development (<u>Dehlendorf et al. 2018</u>; <u>Aiken et al. 2016</u>). An exclusive focus on *ex ante* intentionality of pregnancy elides these complexities and treats all "unintended pregnancies" as negative outcomes—which may not be appropriate or accurate from the perspective of individual women. Cost-effectiveness studies of contraception which report outcomes in terms of "unintended pregnancies prevented" may implicitly (and inappropriately) suggest that all unintended pregnancies are negative outcomes.

2.4 The comparator: What if the HBP excludes contraception?

To evaluate the cost-effectiveness of including contraception in the HBP, a cost-effectiveness analysis must define a comparator—that is, what are we assuming would happen if contraception were *not* included in the package? From the perspective of the public payer, the comparator to inclusion of contraception in the HBP *is not zero use of contraception*, but likely some combination of private-sector usage and discontinuation that depends on several parameters:

• What are the alternative delivery channels for contraception? Are there other approaches to funding and delivering contraception outside of the HBP, for example donor-funded services, social marketing, or domestic vertical programs?

- What portion of women who either currently use contraception or would use contraception in the future via the public sector would use alternative delivery channels if contraception were not available in the public sector benefits package? What portion of women would discontinue use due to cost or other barriers?
- Among women who would continue use through other channels, what are the implications for method mix?

More refined approaches are required to model the counterfactual from the perspective of a public payer, potentially building on existing analyses of domestic family planning expenditures and research on the procurement of contraceptive products across sectors.

With regard to answering the above questions, existing research shows that as countries grow wealthier, government public spending on most health commodities tends to increase (as a portion of overall commodity expenditure) (Silverman et al. 2019). Yet government expenditure on contraceptives actually decreases in relative terms as countries make the leap from lower- to upper-middle-income status, leaving most to seek access in the private sector (Figure 2) (CGA 2019). The considerations listed above are thus particularly relevant in contexts where international NGOs and/or social marketing agencies play prominent roles in contraceptive provision; reliance on the private sector for contraceptive delivery—often via out-of-pocket spending—may also have significant equity implications across geographic regions, age groups, and socioeconomic strata. Finally, movement to the private-sector also has consequences for method mix and choice; donors and government purchasers in the public sector play a greater role in delivering long-acting and permanent methods (LAPMs) like IUDs and implants, while private channels provide the majority of short-term methods (e.g. condoms and pills) and relatively fewer LAPMs (CGA 2019).

100% Share (%) of total estimated market size 36% 34% 80% 59% 65% 60% 81% 13% 17% 92% 40% 51% 49% 41% 29% 20% 15% 8% 0% **Broader Therapy** Contraceptives **Broader Therapy** Contraceptives **Broader Therapy** Contraceptives

Areas

Lower-middle-income

Areas

Upper-middle-income

Figure 2. Private, government, and donor/NGO spending as a share of the total estimated market (value) by country income groups for contraceptive supplies compared to wider sample of health products

Sources: Silverman et al. 2019 and CGA 2019.

Low-income

Areas

Notes: The CGD analysis for broader therapy areas includes 18 LICs, 25 LMICs, and 7 UMICs, whereas the CGA analysis for contraceptive supplies includes 34 LICs, 45 LMICs, and 53 UMICs. The contraceptive spending pattern in UMICs is largely influenced by Brazil, where private sector users of injectables, pills, and condoms dominate the market (60 percent of all users); limited availability of IUDs and implants in both public and private sectors may contribute to this method skew (Bahamondes, Fernandes, and Monteiro 2017; Bahamondes et al. 2017). Private sector spending on contraceptives includes both subsidized and non-subsidized products, although just 2 percent of private sector spending on contraceptive supplies is spent on subsidized supplies. For full details see the CGA 2019.

■ Donor/NGO ■ Government ■ Private

3. Existing evidence on the cost-effectiveness and budgetary implications of contraception

3.1 Rapid review: Cost-effectiveness of contraception

We conducted a rapid literature review on the cost-effectiveness of contraception and examined how these articles have approached contraceptive-specific methodological issues. Searching the International HTA Database, the Center for Evaluation of Value and Risk in Health's (CEVR) Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Registry and Global Health Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Registry, and additional non-database sources yielded 84 total articles after removing duplicates and implementing exclusion criteria (see Appendix 2 for PRISMA flow diagram). Overall, when evaluated in ways that consider total healthcare costs (i.e., in

alignment with an actuarial approach), contraception is usually cost-saving and almost always cost-effective across a range of methods and settings (see Table 1).

Studies evaluating the cost-effectiveness of contraception for the main purpose of preventing pregnancy use a range of methodological approaches. Like other health promotion and prevention services, preventing future pregnancy provides no immediate direct health benefit to the user. Benefits are usually measured as the number of pregnancies averted and/or the resulting long-term health impact and cost-savings. Studies report these results as cost per DALY averted (e.g. Zakiyah et al. 2019; Hu et al. 2007), cost per QALY (e.g. Henry et al. 2015; Sonnenberg et al. 2004), cost per pregnancy averted (e.g. Di Giorgio et al. 2018; Burlone et al. 2012), cost per year of life saved (e.g. Chola et al. 2015; Goldie et al. 2010), cost per couple-years protection (CYP) (e.g. Abbas, Khan, and Khan 2013; Onwujekwe et al. 2013; Nakhaee et al. 2002; Seamans and Harner-Jay 2007), or often some combination (e.g. <u>Babigumiera et al. 2012</u>). See Table 1 for a breakdown of how many articles use each outcome reporting measure. Most studies that report cost per DALY averted focus on prevention of maternal death or disability, usually excluding newborn and child health implications. <u>Javatunga's ROI analysis (2018)</u>, which considers non-healthcare costs like education, and Babigumiera et al. (2012), which models infant and child deaths averted, are some exceptions.

The choice of outcome measure has significant implications for the applicability of cost-effectiveness evidence to HBP design. DALYs have become the global standard for measuring burden of disease and cost-effectiveness of health services; employing DALYs as an outcome measure thus enables comparison across different health problems, countries, and settings (Glassman, Giedion, and Smith 2017). QALYs are also commonly used in cost-effectiveness analysis to measure health benefits; recent research suggests that using QALY versus DALY-based cost-effectiveness ratios will generate similar findings about an intervention's cost-effectiveness (Feng et al. 2020). Other studies report outcomes in terms of years of live saved/gained (YLS), which does not account for reduced morbidity and improved life quality. While all three metrics enable comparability to other health services, they necessarily omit the concrete non-health benefits of contraception discussed in previous sections (e.g., educational outcomes); they also elide rights-based/autonomy benefits of contraception, e.g. the right/benefit of a woman being able to exercise control of her own fertility decisions.

Our review found that studies reporting cost per DALYs averted or QALYs gained via contraception are scarce; most evidence on the cost-effectiveness of contraception uses outcome measures that are contraceptive-specific. Some studies report outcomes as cost per unintended pregnancy averted, an intrinsically contraceptive-specific metric not readily comparable to other health services. (However, even this measure can potentially be converted to DALYs, as illustrated by Ma and Ollendorf (2020). This outcome measure also intrinsically assumes that prevention of unintended pregnancy represents an unambiguously positive outcome, which may conflict with women's subjective experience (discussed in section 2.3). CYP, which refers to "the estimated protection provided by contraceptive methods during a one-year period based upon the volume of all contraceptives sold or distributed free of charge to clients during that period," is also commonly used to report

family planning service levels and compare the cost-efficacy of different contraceptive methods (<u>Darroch and Singh 2011</u>). Though these metrics offer useful information that can inform some aspects of policy, their contraceptive-specific nature limits comparability to other health services and therefore offers limited utility for design of health benefits packages. More research on the cost-effectiveness of contraception utilizing DALYs is needed, especially given the relevance of such analyses to HBP design processes, the importance of comparable results between settings, and promising research thus far on the likelihood of cost-savings.

Studies employ a variety of comparators to increased contraceptive provision in their analyses, including current levels of modern contraceptive use (Sully et al. 2020; Zakiyah et al. 2019; Burlone et al. 2013; Babigumira et al. 2012); an annual mCPR increase of 0.1% (Chola et al. 2015); non-use (Sonnenberg et al. 2004); and the reallocation of LARC users to condoms and oral contraception (Jayatunga 2018). The latter study also offers a customizable model that can test different method mix scenarios (Public Health England 2018). Most studies utilize ex ante modelling to estimate impact; retrospective studies are limited.

Several studies compare the cost-effectiveness of different contraceptive methods. Most evaluate the introduction of LARCs in HICs; implants and IUDs are almost always found to dominate oral contraception and are often more cost-effective than injections (Crespi et al. 2013; Trussell 2009; Mavranezouli 2008; Varney and Guest 2004). Such evidence from LMICs is scarce, with just a few studies published thus far. In Uganda, for example, Di Giorgio et al. (2018) find that self-injected contraceptives dominate injections administered by health workers, averting more unintended pregnancies at a lower cost. A modelling study by Seamans and Harner-Jay (2007) evaluated the cost-effectiveness of various vasectomy methods in India, Kenya and Mexico. While these studies consider the comparative cost-effectiveness of specific methods, no existing studies model the benefits of increasing method choice as an independent input.

In addition to Public Health England's ROI tool described above (<u>Jayatunga 2018</u>), Guttmacher offers a calculator to generate estimates of health benefits and cost savings from publicly funded family planning programs in all US states (<u>Frost et al. 2019</u>). And CEVR's DALY calculator, which converts health outcomes expressed in non-DALY metrics (e.g. cases or deaths averted) to DALYs so that decisionmakers can compare the cost-effectiveness ratios of interventions, recently added maternal health inputs, including maternal infections, maternal hemorrhage, and related anemia (<u>CEVR 2018</u>). These customizable tools can help make the case that contraceptive services are a high-value investment for public payers; additional applications with relevance to LMICs should be explored. Multiple models exist to estimate the impact of family planning programs (e.g. <u>FamPlan</u>, <u>Reality Check</u>), but these minimally incorporate cost-effectiveness evidence and thus have limited relevance to the HBP design and implementation (<u>ImpactNow</u>, which generates cost-benefit and incremental cost-effectiveness ratios, and <u>Impact 2</u>, which estimates DALYs saved, are notable exceptions).

Though use of contraceptives for non-health purposes is outside the scope of this paper, we nonetheless identified many cost-effectiveness studies for broader health issues (n = 25), including condoms to prevent HIV and other STIs (e.g. Stover et al. 2017; Mvundura et al. 2015), IUDs and sterilization to treat menorrhagia (e.g. Gupta et al. 2015), and oral contraceptives and sterilization to prevent reproductive cancers (e.g. Havrilesky et al. 2013) and endometriosis (e.g. Grand, Basarir, and Jackson 2019). Most of these results find contraception to be cost-effective when compared to the relevant threshold by assessing cost per QALY. These studies are excluded from our summary tables.

For budget-holders responsible for the complete costs of pregnancy, birth, and lifetime care, the body of existing evidence suggests that covering contraception is likely to generate significant cost-savings when evaluated over a long-time horizon. Contraceptive coverage need not be framed as in competition with other health services, but as helping enable a more comprehensive and equitable overall package.

Table 1. Summary of rapid review findings on cost-effectiveness of contraception

Category	No. of articles	Percent of total articles in category*			
Country income group (n=84)					
HICs	62	74%			
LMICs	22	26%			
Cost-effectiveness measure (n=56)					
Cost per unintended pregnancy/pregnancy averted	29	52%			
Cost per DALY averted	9	16%			
Cost per QALY	7	13%			
Cost per couple-years protection (CYP)	7	13%			
Cost per year of life saved (YLS)	3	5%			
Other	11	20%			
Methods evaluated†(n=65)					
Short-acting methods					
Injectable	34	52%			
Oral contraception	30	46%			
Condom	30	46%			
Hormonal patch	18	28%			
Hormonal ring	15	23%			
Emergency contraception	13	20%			
Diaphragm, spermicide, other barrier methods	12	18%			
Long-acting reversible methods					
IUD (hormonal)	40	62%			
IUD (copper)	24	37%			
Implant	32	49%			
Permanent methods					
Female sterilization	31	48%			
Male sterilization	14	22%			
Results of studies evaluating contraception provision/expansion compared to current provision or non-use (n=36)					
Cost-saving	31	86%			
Cost-effective	7	19%			
Cost-ineffective	0	0%			

^{*}Most individual articles involve multiple measures, methods, and/or analyses; percentages do not add up to 100 percent.

[†]Reflects only studies which specified the methods they were evaluating; other studies may have evaluated specific methods but did not specify in the paper or related materials.

3.2 Budgetary implications of contraceptive coverage

The literature review suggests that contraception, in most settings, will either be cost saving to the health system or can be provided at a small marginal cost to the capitated package. But even without accounting for cost-savings, the budgetary implications of providing contraceptive coverage are likely to be relatively minor in all but the very poorest countries. In LICs, spending on contraceptive supplies from donor, government, and private financing totals \$191 million--less than 1 percent of total health expenditure (Table 3). The proportion of total health expenditure used for contraceptive supplies is even lower in LMICs (0.36%) and UMICs (0.17%). In comparison, resource requirements for other health programs that receive substantial external aid, such as HIV, tuberculosis (TB), malaria, and immunization, are often much greater (see Table 2). While eliminating all future unmet contraceptive needs would be more expensive, Sully et al. (2020) estimate that meeting all needs for contraceptive care across LMICs, including program costs and direct costs for health worker salaries and supplies, would cost \$12.6 billion per year—under 1 percent of total health spending in LMICs—still representing a relatively modest sum compared to overall health expenditure and the costs of absorbing/fully funding other health programs or interventions.

In Kenya, for example, family planning expenditures in 2015 were roughly \$70 million, while HIV and malaria spending totaled \$848 million and \$118 million, respectively (IHME 2020; Kenya FPSA 2015). Family planning expenditures in Myanmar were \$24 million in 2018, contrasted to \$59 million spent on malaria and \$53 million spent on TB in 2017 (IHME 2020; Myanmar FPSA 2018). And in Cameroon, HIV expenditures were \$129 million, malaria \$103 million, and immunization \$34 million in 2017, while family planning spend was just \$11 million in 2018 (IHME 2020; WHO-UNICEF Joint Reporting Form 2019; Cameroon FPSA 2018).

Table 2. Estimated annual costs of contraception products and services relative to total health spending per country income group (US\$ millions)

Country Income Group	Total Health Spending in 2017* (US\$ millions)	Spending on contraceptive supplies in 2019† (US\$ millions)	Cost of contraceptive care at current coverage levels in 2019 (direct + indirect costs)‡ (US\$ millions)	Cost of contraceptive care at current coverage levels as % of total health spending	No. women with unmet need for modern methods in 2019 (% of total women)§	Cost of contraceptive care if all contraceptive needs were met in 2019 (direct + indirect costs)‡ (US\$ millions)	Cost of contraceptive care if all contraceptive needs were met as % of total health spending
Low	26,083	191	334	1.28%	36,371,203 (21%)	1,613	6.18%
Lower- middle	253,214	905	2,228	0.88%	115,398,433 (15%)	4,533	1.79%
Upper- middle	1,299,113	2,240	4,558	0.35%	66,181,991 (10%)	6,436	0.50%
Total LMICs	1,578,410	3,336	7,120	0.45%	217,951,627 (13%)	12,582	0.80%

Sources: *IHME 2020; †Commodity Gap Analysis 2019; ‡Sully et al. 2020; \$UN Population Division 2020.

Table 3. Total health spending and expenditures for HIV, malaria, TB, immunization, and family planning in select countries and years (US\$ millions)

Country	Country income status in year of available data*	Total health spending [†]	HIV†	Malaria†	TB†	Immunization‡	Family planning expenditures§
Cameroon (2017)	Lower-middle	1,659	129	103	40	34	11 (FY18)
Kenya (2015)	Lower-middle	4,247	848	118	63	47	70 (FY15/16)
Mozambique (2017)	Lower	941	366	120	66	43	30 (FY17/18)
Myanmar (2017)	Lower-middle	2,784	55	59	53	28	24 (FY18)
Senegal (2016)	Lower	854	17	36	12	61	12
Senegal (2017)	Lower	951	22	26	11	20	11
Zimbabwe (2017)	Lower	1,089	240	37	40	48	45 (FY17)

Sources: *World Bank 2020; †IHME 2020; †WHO-UNICEF Joint Reporting Form 2019; \$FPSA reports 2015-2019.

4. Contraceptive coverage in HBPs and UHC: What do we know?

4.1 Conceptualizing how contraceptives fit in HBPs and UHC

We also conducted a rapid review of literature on how contraception has been incorporated in HBPs and UHC thus far. The issue is not without controversy within the family planning community. As documented by Eldridge and Hansen Staples (2018), some in the family planning community have expressed concern that rights-based family planning coverage may be diluted when wrapped in with other services, especially given the potential bias of UHC towards clinical and curative services as opposed to prevention and promotion; others, including many prominent international donors, continue to advocate for a total market approach in which the private sector plays a prominent role in service delivery (Klein et al. 2019; Health Policy Plus 2019).

The family planning community has remained largely siloed from health financing counterparts; few have learned to "speak the language" of financing decisionmakers and UHC, limiting the effectiveness of engagement with high-level policymakers. In response to this challenge, Appleford and RamaRao (2019) compiled a framework to align common health financing terminology (e.g. HBP, payment rates, claims processing) with family planning vocabulary (e.g. equity, client realization of family planning rights). Building on these and other efforts, a sharper understanding of the HBP process is required to effectively influence FP inclusion in UHC schemes, inform HBP implementation, and strengthen the sustainability of contraceptive services.

UHC financing concerns for contraception extend far beyond simple inclusion. For example, the design of strategic purchasing and provider payment arrangements, including relative reimbursement rates, has important implications for accessibility, equity, informed method choice, and service quality (Appleford, RamaRao, and Bellows 2020; Holtz and Intissar 2018). Demand-side financing instruments, such as vouchers, shift purchasing power to users and can thus be an effective way to target vulnerable groups (Bellows et al. 2016). However, parallel purchasing mechanisms and associated incentives must be aligned and coherent in order to feed into a single UHC/HBP policy; otherwise, fragmented operations and funding flows risk undermining cost, access, and equity goals. Strategic purchasing—or paying providers based in part on aspects of their performance and the health needs of the populations they serve—requires jointly aligning who is covered, what to buy, from whom to buy, how to buy, and what is politically feasible (Mazzilli, Appleford, and Boxshall 2016; Mathauer et al. 2019; Eldridge and Hansen Staples 2018). Payment arrangements also influence method choice, as "provider reimbursement approaches and rates often act as a disincentive to quality and choice" (Eldridge and Hansen Staples 2018). Ultimately, moving towards UHC is important for-but does not automatically guarantee-equitable, highquality, rights-based care (Witter et al. 2017). Beyond HBP inclusion, understanding health financing systems, provider payment mechanisms, and other influential decision points within specific countries (e.g. Standard Treatment Guidelines and Essential Medicines Lists) is critical to ensuring "benefits packages are used to guide how resources are allocated to health facilities and providers in practice" (Pillay et al. 2020).

4.2 Recommendations and guidance for contraceptive coverage in HBPs

International health guidance suggests that contraceptives should be included in a UHC benefits package but provides few details for how that package should be defined, within local contexts and resource constraints. The WHO's 2017 framework for "Sexual health and its linkages to reproductive health: an operational approach" suggests only that "a range of modern contraceptive methods, commodities and services should be accessible, acceptable, available and affordable, and they should be provided without coercion by skilled providers in settings that meet standards for quality of care." Likewise, the 2018 report of the Guttmacher-Lancet Commission on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights recommends a comprehensive sexual and reproductive health package that includes "counselling and services for a range of modern contraceptives, with a defined minimum number and types of methods," but does not offer further detail or methods for defining that minimum package. The most recent WHO Essential Medicines List includes an expansive mix of contraceptive methods but does not systematically account for local context or resource constraints (Revill et al. 2019). Further, an FP2020 core indicator for "method availability" measures the percentage of primary care facilities with at least three modern methods available, plus the percentage of secondary or tertiary facilities with at least five modern methods available, but does not expound on how these should be determined or prioritized in practice (FP2020 2019).

Noting the evidence vacuum with respect to an appropriate minimum family planning package for inclusion in an HBP, Palladium led a workshop in 2017 to define a contraceptive benefits package based on expert consensus (<u>Health Policy Plus 2017</u>). However, applying this consensus to HBP composition is not possible as their process did not consider cost-effectiveness criteria nor propose or analyze other structured ways to prioritize either (1) among contraceptive services.; or (2) between contraceptive services and other health services.

4.3 Status of contraceptive coverage in LMIC HBPs

Overall, treatment of contraception in HBPs in LMICs to date has not been well documented. Previous efforts, including those by Marie Stopes International (MSI) (Mazzilli, Appleford, and Boxshall 2016) and the Health Finance and Governance Project at Abt Associates helped to survey current country-level benefits listing decisions for contraceptive services in sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, shedding light on possible better practices (Wright and Holtz 2017). Their findings illustrate that actual provision, purchasing, and even budgeting do not always reflect the written contents of HBPs, essential medicines lists, or other service packages; most emerging health insurance schemes exclude contraception from reimbursable benefits packages, even though contraception is almost always included in "essential packages of health services" (which are broader policy statements without specified cost-sharing requirements). A few countries offer contraception through capitation or input-based financing arrangements, but benefits tend to be weakly defined (i.e. they do not specify the contraceptive methods covered).

A review of HBPs in six countries connected to the iDSI network found that only Bhutan and the Philippines provide family planning as part of a defined benefits package (iDSI 2019). Vietnam does not subsidize any contraceptive products or services. Indonesia provides reimbursements for implants, IUDs, injectables, and sterilization via case-based payments (World Bank 2017). India and Kenya subsidize family planning (the latter with significant donor support) through health programs outside of the HBP. Contraceptive methods are technically covered under Kenya's National Hospital Insurance Fund (NHIF); permanent methods can be purchased via fee-for-service and all other methods through capitation (NHIF 2015). (In practice, access to contraception via the NHIF is limited given that the scheme covers just 16 percent of the population, has minimal informal sector enrollment, and contraceptive coverage is poorly understood by patients and providers) (Pharos 2020; Kazungu and Barasa 2017).

Contraception was initially excluded from Ghana's National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS), but a donor-supported pilot project to cover and purchase clinical contraceptive methods through case-based payments has shown promising results in terms of lives saved and costs averted (Boddam-Whetham and Duku 2019). And in January 2020, following targeted civil society advocacy and engagement with Zambia's national UHC agenda and government counterparts, the country launched an NHIS package that includes birth control pills, implants, injectables, IUDs, and emergency contraception (PAI 2020; PAI 2019). A recent set of case studies examining sexual and reproductive health services in Eswatini, Ethiopia, Malawi, Nigeria, Rwanda, and South Africa found that contraceptive counselling

and some specific methods are generally covered in essential health packages, but such inclusion does not necessarily influence or guarantee service access in reality (<u>The Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health 2019</u>). Nonetheless, evidence has associated inclusion of contraception and other sexual and reproductive health services in NHIS schemes with improved access to and uptake of modern family planning methods in the LAC region (<u>Fagan et al. 2017</u>).

Other country-level or regional studies have examined opportunities and challenges for contraceptive coverage and UHC in Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Indonesia, Kenya, Nigeria, Rwanda, the Philippines, and the LAC region, among others (Eldridge, Hansen Staples and Kress 2019; Fagan and Dutta 2019; Eldridge and Hansen Staples 2018; Wright et al. 2017). Looking ahead, Population Council will continue to evaluate the inclusion of a family planning package within Ghana's NHIS and disseminate results to decisionmakers. Results for Development is also engaged in analyzing sustainable financing approaches for contraceptive commodities in Ghana. ThinkWell's strategic purchasing for primary health care project involves collaboration with public purchasers to inform decisions about service coverage, provider contracting, and payment for essential services, including a focus on family planning (ThinkWell 2020). Finally, colleagues at CGD are currently reviewing HBPs in 30 countries to better understand processes for "converging" single-disease programs into a single benefits package (Glassman et al. 2020).

5. The way forward

5.1 Proposed analytical framework

Given existing evidence on contraceptives and HBPs, how should policymakers and advocates think about contraceptive inclusion in HBPs in a way that is methodologically sound, useful, and relevant? CGD convened a workshop in February 2020 with leading family planning experts to explore existing evidence, discuss conceptual issues, and propose a potential framework to evaluate contraception for inclusion in HBPs. This proposed framework is just one approach to address some contraceptive-specific challenges, while also illuminating unresolved questions. The framework consists of three general stages, which we discuss in more detail in the following sections: (1) BIA for the status quo package; (2) BIA for service, method, and quality expansions; and (3) phased cost-effectiveness analysis. Taken together, this approach builds on existing literature and initiatives in ways that should appeal to health financing counterparts.

Stage 1: Budget impact analysis for status quo package

Assuming donors withdraw resources to some extent, the initial BIA would assess the net budget impact to the UHC payer of assuming responsibility for the package of services previously financed by donors. This analysis would be based on existing usage patterns and the current available method mix, assessing the complete costs of sustaining contraceptive services (including commodities, counselling, insertion and removal of contraceptive implants and IUDs, amortized facility/staff/overhead costs, and supply chain and

distribution). The BIA would also capture savings attained from averted unintended pregnancies, including averted costs for abortion, post-abortion care, pregnancy and delivery care, and (potentially) expected costs for newborn and child health services. This approach aligns with the research discussed above that calculates savings from averted unintended pregnancies, such as <u>Sully et al. 2020</u>, <u>Frost et al. 2019</u>, and <u>Madden et al. 2018</u>.

In our evidence review (Section 3), we found that the vast majority of studies assessed contraceptive provision as net *cost-saving*. Though results will of course be context-specific, this strongly suggests that such analyses would demonstrate net cost savings for the payer by assuming responsibility for the package, vis-à-vis a scenario in which provision is only available through the private sector.

Stage 2: Budget impact analysis for service, method, and quality expansions

A second BIA would assess the budget impact of introducing various service expansions, including additional method choice, new delivery channels, and quality improvements. This modelling exercise would require data on the anticipated changes in method-specific and overall contraceptive uptake associated with service expansions; averted unintended pregnancies and associated costs; and the marginal costs of introducing and sustaining the service expansion. Though there is some existing data on method discontinuation and several studies model discontinuation rates, this data has yet to be synthesized in the public domain in ways that are useful for cost-effectiveness modelling (Ali, Park, and Ngo 2014; Ali et al. 2011). Further, despite significant differences in health needs between countries and between various groups within countries, local data on clinical efficacy, cost, and health burden—which enable disaggregated analysis in order to promote equity—is limited (Pillay et al. 2020). Support and funding for additional data collection and research are needed to facilitate these analyses and inform more comprehensive coverage of contraception within HBPs.

If informed by continued improvements in data collection and analysis, BIA offers the family planning community a compelling new tool to advocate for service expansions and equity considerations—for example expanding access to vulnerable groups—in a way that is likely to resonate and link with broader health financing policies. Development partners may also consider strategically targeting their resources towards methods that are likely to become more cost-effective only after generating user demand, paying start-up costs, implementing provider training, and so on.

Based on existing evidence—mostly from HICs—many service expansions and additional method choices are likely to be cost-saving by encouraging uptake and averting additional unintended pregnancies. In California, for example, all methods have been found to be cost-saving from the perspective of a public payer; savings range from \$7 per dollar spent for IUDs and implants to \$1.34 per dollar spent for barrier methods (Foster et al. 2009). However, evidence from LMIC contexts is limited and some methods that are more costly/less effective and have viable substitutes may not be cost-saving (but are still likely to be cost-effective).

Stage 3: Phased cost-effectiveness analysis

If the previous analyses do not suggest cost-savings, the net marginal cost could then be applied to calculate whether contraception coverage generally (or specific methods) are cost-effective within the health sector vis-à-vis the local cost-effectiveness threshold. Based on the evidence described above, the marginal cost of contraceptive services (and most specific methods) will be highly cost-effective as a health intervention in most settings.

In rare cases in which contraceptive services are not found to be cost-effective as a health intervention, they are likely to be cost-effective when considering cross-sectoral spillovers given the non-health benefits of contraceptives (as found by <u>Jayatunga 2018</u>). Cross-sectoral cost-effectiveness could evaluate estimated benefits to schooling, gender equity, and women's economic empowerment. Health economists have examined how to best conduct multisectoral evaluations, although they remain an area of methodological research (<u>Brouwer et al. 2019</u>; <u>Walker et al. 2019</u>; <u>Remme, Martinez-Alvarez, and Vassall 2017</u>).

5.2 Context-specific approaches to operationalize the framework

Varying levels of donor dependence from contraception and national health insurance system maturity will necessitate country-specific approaches to applying the framework. Initially, the framework should be tested in two to four countries across a range of categories (see Table 4). For example, countries with high dependence on donors for contraception, such as Ghana, Kenya, and Rwanda, would benefit from donor involvement and support for contraception inclusion in nascent national health insurance schemes, moving away from year-by-year volatility in required budget line items. Technical and financial support for priority-setting and HBP design in these settings is also important (Nemzoff and Baker 2020). Those with low or medium dependence on development assistance for contraception, such as Bangladesh, DRC, Indonesia, and Thailand, could benefit from analyses that consider the cost-effectiveness of greater choice or more expensive methods, i.e., stage 2 of the framework.

Table 4. Country typology to inform piloting and operationalizing of framework

		Level of Donor Dependence for Contraception				
		High	Medium	Low		
UHC/NHI Maturity	Functional	Rwanda	Indonesia, Vietnam	Brazil, Chile, Thailand		
	Under Development	Ghana, Kenya	Bangladesh, India	South Africa		
	Aspirational	Burkina Faso, Malawi, Uganda	Democratic Republic of the Congo	United States		

Sources: Author categorization of countries based on Pharos 2020; Contraceptive Security Indicators 2019; Reproductive Health Supplies Visualizer 2020; WHO Country Planning Cycle Database 2020.

5.3 Valuing method choice

The proposed framework is an initial way to address some of the specific challenges in evaluating contraceptives for inclusion in HBPs. Many unresolved questions remain, including whether and how to distinguish fewer births from birth spacing; how to conceptualize the comparator; and how to place an economic value on method choice. On the latter issue, we offer an initial suggestion of how method choice could be incorporated into cost-effectiveness modelling to inform coverage decisions (Figure 3).

Assuming that service users are able to make voluntary, rights-based choices between available methods, Figure 3 illustrates multiple ways in which expanding method choice affects the value and cost-effectiveness of contraception from the payer's perspective. The pathways are: 1) additional acceptors; 2) continuing users who otherwise would have discontinued; and 3) switchers from Method A to Method B, where the methods may differ in terms of cost, efficacy, and/or likelihood of discontinuation. CGD workshop participants generally endorsed the proposed pathways as an appropriate model for understanding the benefits of method choice. Additional research is needed to identify the appropriate model parameters.

Offered Modern Offered Modern Method A Method B Discontinuation **New Acceptors** Not using a method but does not want to become pregnant Using Modern N_{ew} Using Modern $A_{\text{cce}ptors}$ Method A Method B Switchers New Using traditional Acceptors methods **New Acceptors** Discontinuation

Figure 3. Proposed decision process model of expanding contraceptive method choice

6. Conclusion

This paper synthesizes existing evidence on the cost-effectiveness of contraceptive inclusion in HBPs, suggesting it represents a relatively low-cost, high-value investment. We also offer a proposed approach to evaluate contraception for inclusion in publicly funded benefits packages that can be leveraged by local advocates, policymakers, and other partners to ensure appropriate inclusion of contraception in HBP-based UHC policies. By strategically engaging in health benefits design, the family planning community and civil society can engage in more effective advocacy and better ensure that those with the greatest health needs are given due consideration within a broader context of resource constraints and competing priorities. Given the scale of health financing challenges facing the global community and national policymakers, allocating domestic resources to the most effective uses is of paramount importance. Now is the time to lay the groundwork for inclusion and make the case that contraception provides strong value-for-money.

References

- "2019 Contraceptive Security Indicators." USAID Global Health Supply Chain Program. https://www.ghsupplychain.org/csi-dashboard/2019.
- "A Quick Overview of RHS as Part of Public Programs in IDSI Countries." n.d. International Decision Support Initiative (iDSI) and Health Intervention and Technology Assessment Program (HITAP).
- Abbas, Khadija, Adnan Ahmad Khan, and Ayesha Khan. 2013. "Costs and Utilization of Public Sector Family Planning Services in Pakistan." *JPMA*. The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association 63 (4 Suppl 3): S33-39.
- "Adolescent Pregnancy." 2020. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-pregnancy.
- Aiken, Abigail R. A., Sonya Borrero, Lisa S. Callegari, and Christine Dehlendorf. 2016. "Rethinking the Pregnancy Planning Paradigm: Unintended Conceptions or Unrepresentative Concepts?" *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 48 (3): 147–51. https://doi.org/10.1363/48e10316.
- Ali, Mohamed M., Min Hae Park, and Thoai D. Ngo. 2014. "Levels and Determinants of Switching Following Intrauterine Device Discontinuation in 14 Developing Countries." *Contraception* 90 (1): 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2014.03.008.
- Ali, Mohamed M, Rachael K Sadler, John Cleland, Thoai D Ngo, and Iqbal H Shah. 2011. "Long-Term Contraceptive Protection, Discontinuation and Switching Behaviour: Intrauterine Device (IUD) Use Dynamics in 14 Developing Countries." World Health Organization and Marie Stopes International. https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/family_planning/Long_term_contraceptive_protection_behaviour.pdf.
- All Wales Medicines Strategy Group (AWMSG). 2015. "Levonorgestrel (Jaydess®)." All Wales Therapeutics and Toxicology Centre (AWTTC), secretariat of the All Wales Medicines Strategy Group (AWMSG).

 https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/crdweb/ShowRecord.asp?ID=32015000911&ID=32015000911.
- Amaral, Gorette, Diana Greene Foster, M Antonia Biggs, Carolyn Bradner Jasik, Signy Judd, and Claire D Brindis. 2007. "Public Savings from the Prevention of Unintended Pregnancy: A Cost Analysis of Family Planning Services in California." *Health Services* Research 42 (5): 1960–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2007.00702.x.
- Angeles, Gustavo, David K. Guilkey, and Thomas A. Mroz. 2005. "The Effects of Education and Family Planning Programs on Fertility in Indonesia." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 54 (1): 165–201. https://doi.org/10.1086/431261.

- Appleford, Gabrielle, and Boniface Mbuthia. 2020. "County Perspectives on Kenya's Family Planning Program. Kenya Brief 4." Nairobi, Kenya: ThinkWell and Avenir Health. https://thinkwell.global/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Family-planning-brief 31-July-2020.pdf.
- Appleford, Gabrielle, and Saumya RamaRao. 2019. "Health Financing and Family Planning in the Context of Universal Health Care: Connecting the Discourse." *Reproductive Health*, January. https://doi.org/10.31899/rh6.1021.
- Appleford, Gabrielle, Saumya RamaRao, and Ben Bellows. 2020. "The Inclusion of Sexual and Reproductive Health Services within Universal Health Care through Intentional Design." *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters* 28 (2): 1799589. https://doi.org/10.1080/26410397.2020.1799589.
- Avenir Health, and Health Consulting. 2018. "EVALUATION DES DEPENSES DE PLANIFICATION FAMILIALE AU CAMEROUN." Track20. http://www.track20.org/download/pdf/FPSA_CAMEROON_2018.pdf.
- Babigumira, Joseph B., Andy Stergachis, David L. Veenstra, Jacqueline S. Gardner, Joseph Ngonzi, Peter Mukasa-Kivunike, and Louis P. Garrison. 2012. "Potential Cost-Effectiveness of Universal Access to Modern Contraceptives in Uganda." *PLOS ONE* 7 (2): e30735. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030735.
- Bahamondes, Luis, Moazzam Ali, Ilza Monteiro, and Arlete Fernandes. 2017. "Stagnant Contraceptive Sales after the Zika Epidemic in Brazil." *The European Journal of Contraception &* Reproductive Health Care 22 (5): 381–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/13625187.2017.1397623.
- Bahamondes, Luis, Bruna F. Bottura, M. Valeria Bahamondes, Mayara P. Gonçalves, Vinicius M. Correia, Ximena Espejo-Arce, Maria H. Sousa, Ilza Monteiro, and Arlete Fernandes. 2014. "Estimated Disability-Adjusted Life Years Averted by Long-Term Provision of Long Acting Contraceptive Methods in a Brazilian Clinic." *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)* 29 (10): 2163–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu191.
- Bahamondes, Luis, Arlete Fernandes, and Ilza Monteiro. 2017. "Barriers to Implementing and Consolidating a Family Planning Program That Would Meet Brazilian Needs." *Revista Brasileira de Ginecologia e Obstetricia / RBGO Gynecology and Obstetrics* 39 (08): 373–75. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1604423.
- Bailey, Martha J. 2006. "More Power to the Pill: The Impact of Contraceptive Freedom on Women's Life Cycle Labor Supply." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 121 (1): 289–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/121.1.289.
- Bailey, Martha J., Brad Hershbein, and Amalia R. Miller. 2012. "The Opt-In Revolution? Contraception and the Gender Gap in Wages." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4 (3): 225–54. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.4.3.225.

- Banerjee, Srabani. 2001. "Transdermal Contraceptive Patch A New Birth Control Option." Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment (CCOHTA). <a href="https://www.cadth.ca/transdermal-contraceptive-patch-new-birth-control-option-0#:~:text=The%20contraceptive%20patch%2C%20Ortho%20Evra%E2%84%A2%2C%20developed%20by%20the%20R.W.&text=As%20of%20October%202001%20th
- Barot, Sneha. 2018. "The Roadmap to Safe Abortion Worldwide: Lessons from New Global Trends on Incidence, Legality and Safety." *Guttmacher Policy Review* 21 (March). https://www.guttmacher.org/gpr/2018/03/roadmap-safe-abortion-worldwide-lessons-new-global-trends-incidence-legality-and-safety.

ere,the%20contraceptive%20patch%20in%20Canada.

- Bayer, Lisa L., Alison B. Edelman, Aaron B. Caughey, and Maria I. Rodriguez. 2013. "The Price of Emergency Contraception in the United States: What Is the Cost-Effectiveness of Ulipristal Acetate versus Single-Dose Levonorgestrel?" *Contraception* 87 (3): 385–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2012.08.034.
- Bellows, B., C. Tak, J. Sanders, D. Turok, and E. B. Schwarz. 2016. "Cost-Effectiveness of Emergency Contraception Options over 1 Year." *Contraception* 94 (4): 432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2016.07.179.
- Bellows, Ben, Carol Bulaya, Sophie Inambwae, Craig L. Lissner, Moazzam Ali, and Ashish Bajracharya. 2016. "Family Planning Vouchers in Low and Middle Income Countries: A Systematic Review." *Studies in Family Planning* 47 (4): 357–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/sifp.12006.
- Boddam-Whetham, Luke, and Stephen Duku. 2019. "Including Family Planning in Ghana's National Health Insurance from Policy to Practice." African Health Markets for Equity and Marie Stopes International. http://www.hanshep.org/our-programmes/AHMEresources/FPPILOTfinal.pdf.
- Brady, Martha, Jennifer Kidwell Drake, Allen Namagembe, and Jane Cover. 2020. "Self-Care Provision of Contraception: Evidence and Insights from Contraceptive Injectable Self-Administration." Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Modern Methods of Contraception, 66 (July): 95–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2020.01.003.
- Brouwer, Werner, Pieter Baal, Job Exel, and Matthijs Versteegh. 2019. "When Is It Too Expensive? Cost-Effectiveness Thresholds and Health Care Decision-Making." *The European Journal of Health Economics* 20 (2): 175–80.
- Burchett, Helen, Ginny Brunton, Christine Michaels-Igbokwe, Andreia Santos, Jenny Caird, Mariana Sipka, Noemia Teixeira-Filha, Gillian Stokes, and James Thomas. 2016. "Sexual Health Promotion and Contraceptive Services in Local Authorities: A Systematic Review of Economic Evaluations 2010-2015." *Sexual Health Promotion and*

- Contraceptive Services in Local Authorities: A Systematic Review of Economic Evaluations 2010-2015. EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education, University College London.
- Burlone, Suzanne, Alison B. Edelman, Aaron B. Caughey, James Trussell, Stella Dantas, and Maria I. Rodriguez. 2013. "Extending Contraceptive Coverage under the Affordable Care Act Saves Public Funds." *Contraception* 87 (2): 143–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2012.06.009.
- Cacciatore, Joanne. 2013. "Psychological Effects of Stillbirth." *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, Palliative Care and End-of-Life Decisions, 18 (2): 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.siny.2012.09.001.
- Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. 2013. "Copper Intra-Uterine Devices as a Contraceptive for Adult Women: A Review of Clinical Effectiveness and Safety." https://www.cadth.ca/copper-intra-uterine-devices-contraceptive-adult-women-review-clinical-effectiveness-and-safety.
- Chandra, Anjani, Gladys M. Martinez, William D. Mosher, Joyce C. Abma, and Jo Jones. 2005. "Fertility, Family Planning, and Reproductive Health of U.S. Women: Data from the 2002 National Survey of Family Growth." *Vital and Health Statistics. Series 23, Data from the National Survey of Family Growth*, no. 25 (December): 1–160.
- Chola, Lumbwe, Shelley McGee, Aviva Tugendhaft, Eckhart Buchmann, and Karen Hofman. 2015. "Scaling Up Family Planning to Reduce Maternal and Child Mortality: The Potential Costs and Benefits of Modern Contraceptive Use in South Africa." *PLoS ONE* 10 (6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130077.
- "Commodity Gap Analysis 2019." 2019. Reproductive Health Supplies Coalition. https://www.rhsupplies.org/cga/.
- Conde-Agudelo, Agustin, Anyeli Rosas-Bermúdez, and Ana Cecilia Kafury-Goeta. 2006. "Birth Spacing and Risk of Adverse Perinatal Outcomes: A Meta-Analysis." *JAMA* 295 (15): 1809–23. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.15.1809.
- "Contraceptive Services: Estimating the Return on Investment." 2018. Public Health England. August 2, 2018.

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contraceptive-services-estimating-the-return-on-investment.
- "Country Planning Cycle Database." 2020. World Health Organization. https://extranet.who.int/countryplanningcycles/.
- "Covering Prescription Contraceptives in Employee Health Plans: How This Coverage Saves Money." 2012. National Women's Law Center.

 https://www.nwlc.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/contraceptive-coverage-saves-mone-y-fact-sheet.pdf.

- Crespi, Simone, Matthew Kerrigan, and Vipan Sood. 2013. "Budget Impact Analysis of 8 Hormonal Contraceptive Options." *AJMC* 19 (7). https://www.ajmc.com/view/budget-impact-analysis-of-8-hormonal-contraceptive-options.
- "DALY Calculator." 2018. Center for the Evaluation of Value and Risk in Health (CEVR). https://cevr.shinyapps.io/DALYcalculation/.
- D'Angelo, Denise V., Brenda Colley Gilbert, Roger W. Rochat, John S. Santelli, and Joan M. Herold. 2004. "Differences between Mistimed and Unwanted Pregnancies among Women Who Have Live Births." *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 36 (5): 192–97. https://doi.org/10.1363/psrh.36.192.04.
- Darroch, Jacqueline, and Susheela Singh. 2011. "Estimating Unintended Pregnancies Averted from Couple-Years of Protection (CYP)." *Guttmacher Institute*. https://www.guttmacher.org/estimating-unintended-pregnancies-averted-couple-years-protection-cyp.
- Dehlendorf, Christine, Reiley Reed, Edith Fox, Dominika Seidman, Cara Hall, and Jody Steinauer. 2018. "Ensuring Our Research Reflects Our Values: The Role of Family Planning Research in Advancing Reproductive Autonomy." *Contraception* 98 (1): 4–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2018.03.015.
- Di Giorgio, Laura, Mercy Mvundura, Justine Tumusiime, Chloe Morozoff, Jane Cover, and Jennifer Kidwell Drake. 2018. "Is Contraceptive Self-Injection Cost-Effective Compared to Contraceptive Injections from Facility-Based Health Workers? Evidence from Uganda." *Contraception* 98 (5): 396–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2018.07.137.
- Dutta, Mili, Chander Shekhar, and Lokender Prashad. 2015. "Level, Trend and Correlates of Mistimed and Unwanted Pregnancies among Currently Pregnant Ever Married Women in India." *PLOS ONE* 10 (12): e0144400. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144400.
- Eldridge, Cynthia, and Mara Hansen Staples. 2018. "A Synthesis Of Recent Learnings On The Integration Of Family Planning In Universal Health Coverage Schemes." Impact for Health. http://health.bmz.de/what_we_do/Reproductive-maternal-and-child-health/studies_and_articles/family_planning_in_uhc/Family_Planning_in_Universal_Health_Coverage_Final_for_publication.pdf.
- Eldridge, Cynthia, Mara Hansen Staples, and Daniel Kress. 2019. "FP in the UHC Agenda: Current Discourse & Future Options."

 https://www.dropbox.com/s/yennhhx4eytg7i7/2019.04.15%20FP%20in%20the%20UHC%20agenda-%20Current%20discourse%20%26%20future%20options.pdf?dl=0.
- "Estimated Effect on Direct Spending and Revenues of H.R. 3162, the Children's Health and Medicare Protection Act, for the Rules Committee." 2007. United States:

- Congressional Budget Office. https://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/ftpdocs/85xx/doc8519/hr3162.pdf.
- "Etonogestrel Implant (Implanon) for Contraception in Women." 2007. HAYES, Inc. https://database.inahta.org/article/6818.
- "Evaluation of Sterilization Methods in Men and Women." 2005. French National Authority for Health. https://database.inahta.org/article/5468.
- "Evidence Summary: Prevent Unintended Pregnancy | 6 | 18 Initiative: Accelerating Evidence into Action." 2020. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. October 28, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/sixeighteen/pregnancy/index.htm.
- "Fact Sheet: Costs and Benefits of Investing in Contraceptive Services in Sub-Saharan Africa." 2012. Guttmacher Institute.

 https://www.guttmacher.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/pubs/FB-contraceptive-services-SSA.pdf.
- Fagan, Thomas, and Arin Dutta. 2019. "Opportunities for Achieving Sustainable Family Planning Financing in Ethiopia." Washington, DC: Palladium, Health Policy Plus. http://www.healthpolicyplus.com/ns/pubs/11324-11591 EthiopiaSustainableFPFinancingReportJune.pdf.
- Fagan, Thomas, Arin Dutta, James Rosen, Agathe Olivetti, and Kate Klein. 2017. "Family Planning in the Context of Latin America's Universal Health Coverage Agenda." Global Health: Science and Practice 5 (3): 382–98. https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-17-00057.
- "Family Planning Spending Assessment Country Reports." Track20. http://www.track20.org/pages/data_analysis/FPSA.php.
- "FamPlan: A Computer Program for Projecting Family Planning Requirements." Health Policy Project.

 http://www.healthpolicyproject.com/index.cfm?id=software&get=Spectrum.
- Feng, Xue, David D. Kim, Joshua T. Cohen, Peter J. Neumann, and Daniel A. Ollendorf. 2020. "Using QALYs versus DALYs to Measure Cost-Effectiveness: How Much Does It Matter?" *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 36 (2): 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266462320000124.
- Foster, Diana G., Tina R. Raine, Claire Brindis, Daria P. Rostovtseva, and Philip D. Darney. 2010. "Should Providers Give Women Advance Provision of Emergency Contraceptive Pills? A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis." Women's Health Issues: Official Publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health 20 (4): 242–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2010.03.003.

- Foster, Diana Greene, Maria Antonia Biggs, Jan Malvin, Mary Bradsberry, Philip Darney, and Claire D. Brindis. 2013. "Cost-Savings from the Provision of Specific Contraceptive Methods in 2009." *Women's Health Issues* 23 (4): e265–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2013.05.004.
- Foster, Diana Greene, Daria P. Rostovtseva, Claire D. Brindis, M. Antonia Biggs, Denis Hulett, and Philip D. Darney. 2009. "Cost Savings from the Provision of Specific Methods of Contraception in a Publicly Funded Program." *American Journal of Public Health* 99 (3): 446–51. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.129353.
- "FP2020 Family Planning's Return on Investment." 2018. FP2020. http://www.familyplanning2020.org/sites/default/files/Data-Hub/ROI/FP2020 ROI OnePager FINAL.pdf.
- French, R. S., F. M. Cowan, D. J. Mansour, S. Morris, T. Procter, D. Hughes, A. Robinson, and J. Guillebaud. 2000. "Implantable Contraceptives (Subdermal Implants and Hormonally Impregnated Intrauterine Systems) versus Other Forms of Reversible Contraceptives: Two Systematic Reviews to Assess Relative Effectiveness, Acceptability, Tolerability and Cost-Effectiveness." *Health Technology Assessment* (Winchester, England) 4 (7): i–vi, 1–107.
- Frost, Jennifer J., Lawrence B. Finer, and Athena Tapales. 2008. "The Impact of Publicly Funded Family Planning Clinic Services on Unintended Pregnancies and Government Cost Savings." *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved* 19 (3): 778–96. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.0.0060.
- Frost, Jennifer J., Mia R. Zolna, and Lori F. Frohwirth. 2013. "Contraceptive Needs and Services, 2010." Guttmacher Institute. https://www.guttmacher.org/report/contraceptive-needs-and-services-2010.
- Frost, Jennifer J., Mia R. Zolna, Lori F. Frohwirth, Ayana Douglas-Hall, Nakeisha Blades, Jennifer Mueller, Zoe H. Pleasure, and Shivani Kochhar. 2019. "Publicly Supported Family Planning Services in the United States: Likely Need, Availability and Impact, 2016." Guttmacher Institute. https://www.guttmacher.org/report/publicly-supported-FP-services-US-2016.
- Frost, Jennifer, Adam Sonfield, Mia R. Zolna, and Lawrence B. Finer. 2014. "Return on Investment: A Fuller Assessment of the Benefits and Cost Savings of the US Publicly Funded Family Planning Program." *The Milbank Quarterly* 92 (4): 696–749.
- Gheorghe, Adrian, Kalipso Chalkidou, Amanda Glassman, Tomas Lievens, and Anthony McDonnell. 2020. "COVID-19 and Budgetary Space for Health in Developing Economies." *Center for Global Development*, July. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/covid-19-and-budgetary-space-health-developing-economies.

- Gheorghe, Adrian, Rashid Uz Zaman, Molly Scott, and Sophie Witter. 2018. "Delivering Reproductive Health Services through Non-State Providers in Pakistan: Understanding the Value for Money of Different Approaches." *Global Health Research and Policy* 3 (1): 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-018-0089-4.
- Glassman, Amanda, Ursula Giedion, and Peter Smith. 2017. What's In, What's Out: Designing Benefits for Universal Health Coverage. What's In, What's Out: Designing Benefits for Universal Health Coverage. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/whats-in-whats-out-designing-benefits-universal-health-coverage
- Glassman, Amanda, Lydia Regan, Y-Ling Chi, and Kalipso Chalkidou. 2020. "Getting to Convergence: How 'Vertical' Health Programs Add Up to A Health System." *Center for Global Development*. https://www.cgdev.org/blog/getting-convergence-how-vertical-health-programs-add-health-system.
- Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. 2020a. "Global Health Spending 1995-2017." Seattle, United States of America: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/ihme-data/global-health-spending-1995-2017.
- ———. 2020b. "Global HIV/AIDS Spending 2000-2017." Seattle, United States of America: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/global-hivaids-spending-2000-2017.
- ———. 2020c. "Global Malaria Spending 2000-2017." Seattle, United States of America: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/ihme-data/global-malaria-spending-2000-2017.
- "Global Health CEA Glossary." Center for the Evaluation of Value and Risk in Health (CEVR). http://ghcearegistry.org/orchard/resources.
- Goldie, Sue J., Steve Sweet, Natalie Carvalho, Uma Chandra Mouli Natchu, and Delphine Hu. 2010. "Alternative Strategies to Reduce Maternal Mortality in India: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis." *PLOS Medicine* 7 (4): e1000264. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000264.
- Goldin, Claudia, and Lawrence Katz. 2002. "The Power of the Pill: Oral Contraceptives and Women's Career and Marriage Decisions." *Journal of Political Economy*. https://doi.org/10.1086/340778.
- "Good for Business: Covering Contraceptive Care Without Cost-Sharing Is Is Cost-Neutral or Even Saves Money." 2014. *Guttmacher Institute*. https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2014/07/good-business-covering-contraceptive-care-without-cost-sharing-cost-neutral-or-even.

- Gorenoi, Vitali, Matthias P. Schönermark, and Anja Hagen. 2007. "Benefits and Risks of Hormonal Contraception for Women." *GMS Health Technology Assessment* 3 (August). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3011324/.
- Grand, Tobias Sydendal, Hasan Basarir, and Louise J. Jackson. 2019. "The Cost-Effectiveness of Oral Contraceptives Compared to 'no Hormonal Treatment' for Endometriosis-Related Pain: An Economic Evaluation." *PloS One* 14 (1): e0210089. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210089.
- Gupta, Janesh K., Jane P. Daniels, Lee J. Middleton, Helen M. Pattison, Gail Prileszky, Tracy E. Roberts, Sabina Sanghera, et al. 2015. "A Randomised Controlled Trial of the Clinical Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of the Levonorgestrel-Releasing Intrauterine System in Primary Care against Standard Treatment for Menorrhagia: The ECLIPSE Trial." *Health Technology Assessment* 19 (88): i–xxv, 1–118. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta19880.
- Han, Leo, Stephanie B. Teal, Jeanelle Sheeder, and Kristina Tocce. 2014. "Preventing Repeat Pregnancy in Adolescents: Is Immediate Postpartum Insertion of the Contraceptive Implant Cost Effective?" *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 211 (1): 24.e1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.03.015.
- Havrilesky, Laura J., Jennifer M. Gierisch, Patricia G. Moorman, Remy R. Coeytaux, Rachel Peragallo Urrutia, William J. Lowery, Michaela Dinan, et al. 2013. "Oral Contraceptive Use for the Primary Prevention of Ovarian Cancer." *Evidence Report/Technology Assessment*, no. 212 (June): 1–514.
- Hayati, Ramin, Peivand Bastani, Mohammad Javad Kabir, Zahra Kavosi, and Ghasem Sobhani. 2018. "Scoping Literature Review on the Basic Health Benefit Package and Its Determinant Criteria." *Globalization and Health* 14 (March). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-018-0345-x.
- Health Policy Plus. 2017. "Essential Components of Family Planning Benefits Packages." Washington, DC: Palladium, Health Policy Plus. http://www.healthpolicyplus.com/pubs.cfm?get=7178.
- "Health Statistics and Information Systems: Topics at a Glance (A–Z)." World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/healthinfo/topics/en/.
- Henry, Nathaniel, Charlie Hawes, Julia Lowin, Ingrid Lekander, Anna Filonenko, and Helena K. Kallner. 2015. "Cost-effectiveness Analysis of a Low-dose Contraceptive Levonorgestrel Intrauterine System in Sweden." *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 94 (8): 884–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.12679.
- Hock, Heinrich. 2007. "The Pill and the College Attainment of American Women and Men." wp2007_10_01. Working Papers. Working Papers. Department of Economics, Florida State University. https://ideas.repec.org/p/fsu/wpaper/wp2007 10 01.html.

- Holtz, Jeanna, and Sarker Intissar. 2018. "Integrating Family Planning into Universal Health Coverage Efforts." Bethesa, Maryland: Sustaining Health Outcomes through the Private Sector Plus Project, Abt Associates. https://www.shopsplusproject.org/sites/default/files/resources/Integrating%20Family%20Planning%20Into%20Universal%20Health%20Coverage%20Efforts.pdf.
- Horton, Susan, and Carol Levin. 2016. "Cost-Effectiveness of Interventions for Reproductive, Maternal, Neonatal, and Child Health." In Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 2), edited by Robert E. Black, Ramanan Laxminarayan, Marleen Temmerman, and Neff Walker. Washington (DC): The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK361909/.
- Hsieh, Chang-Tai, Erik Hurst, Charles I. Jones, and Peter J. Klenow. 2019. "The Allocation of Talent and U.S. Economic Growth." *Econometrica* 87 (5): 1439–74. https://doi.org/10.3982/ECTA11427.
- Hu, Delphine, Stefano M. Bertozzi, Emmanuela Gakidou, Steve Sweet, and Sue J. Goldie. 2007. "The Costs, Benefits, and Cost-Effectiveness of Interventions to Reduce Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in Mexico." *PLoS ONE* 2 (8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000750.
- "Hysteroscopic Tubal Sterilization." 2014. Institute of Health Economics. https://database.inahta.org/article/16312.
- "Hysteroscopic Tubal Sterilization (Essure (TM) System)." 2006. Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research. https://database.inahta.org/article/5727.
- "Impact 2." Marie Stopes International. https://www.mariestopes.org/what-we-do/our-approach/our-technical-expertise/impact-2/.
- "ImpactNow: Estimating the Health and Economic Impacts of Family Planning Use."

 2014. Health Policy Project. November 15, 2014.

 http://www.healthpolicyproject.com/index.cfm?id=publications&get=pubID&pubID=357.
- Institute for Health Metrics and World Health Organization. 2020. "Global Tuberculosis Spending 2000-2017." Seattle, United States of America: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/ihme-data/global-tuberculosis-spending-2000-2017.

- "IUBTM SCu300A Intrauterine Device for Contraception." 2013. NIHR Innovation Observatory. http://www.io.nihr.ac.uk/report/iub-scu300a-intrauterine-device-for-contraception/.
- Jain, Anrudh K., and William Winfrey. 2017. "Contribution of Contraceptive Discontinuation to Unintended Births in 36 Developing Countries." Studies in Family Planning 48 (3): 269–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/sifp.12023.
- Jayatunga, Wikum. 2018. "Contraception: Economic Analysis Estimation of the Return on Investment (ROI) for Publicly Funded Contraception in England." Public Health England.
 - https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/730292/contraception return on investment report.pdf.
- John Bertko, Sherry Glied, Erin Miller, Adelle Simmons, and Lee Wilson. 2012. "THE COST OF COVERING CONTRACEPTIVES THROUGH HEALTH INSURANCE." Office of the Assistant Secretary of Health and Human Services for Planning and Evaluation. https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/cost-covering-contraceptives-through-health-insurance.
- Johnson, Kiersten, Osama al Zoubi, and Martin Wulfe. 2004. "Mistimed and Unwanted Pregnancies in Jordan." *DHS Further Analysis Reports*, no. 44 (September). https://dhsprogram.com/publications/publication-fa44-further-analysis.cfm.
- Kazungu, Jacob S., and Edwine W. Barasa. 2017. "Examining Levels, Distribution and Correlates of Health Insurance Coverage in Kenya." *Tropical Medicine & International Health* 22 (9): 1175–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12912.
- Klein, Kate, Rob Wood, Cindi Cisek, and Sayaka Koseki. 2019. "From Policy to Practice: Defining Health Market Interventions within a Total Market Approach." Washington, DC: Health Policy Plus. http://www.healthpolicyplus.com/ns/pubs/11329-11601 MarketInterventions.pdf.
- Korir, Julius, and Urbanus Kioko. 2017. "Family Planning Spending Assessment in Kenya FY 2014/15-2015/16." Track20.

 http://www.track20.org/download/pdf/FPSA Kenya Fiscal Years 2014-2015 2015-2016.pdf.
- Krashin, Jamie W., Alison B. Edelman, Mark D. Nichols, Allison J. Allen, Aaron B. Caughey, and Maria I. Rodriguez. 2014. "Prohibiting Consent: What Are the Costs of Denying Permanent Contraception Concurrent with Abortion Care?" American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 211 (1): 76.e1-76.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.04.039.
- "Leading the Charge: Insight into Country-Level Sexual and Reproductive Health Advocacy in Zambia's Universal Health Coverage Financing Reforms." 2020. PAI. https://pai.org/resources/leading-charge/.

- Lucas, Stephen. 2015. "Unprotected Nation 2015: An Update on the Financial and Economic Impacts of Restricted Contraceptive and Sexual Health Services." Family Planning Association (FPA). https://www.fpa.org.uk/sites/default/files/unprotected-nation-2015-full-report.pdf.
- Madden, Tessa, Abigail R. Barker, Kelsey Huntzberry, Gina M. Secura, Jeffrey F. Peipert, and Timothy D. McBride. 2018. "Medicaid Savings from the Contraceptive CHOICE Project: A Cost-Savings Analysis." *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology* 219 (6): 595.e1-595.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2018.08.043.
- Mathauer, Inke, Elina Dale, Matthew Jowett, and Joe Kutzin. 2019. "Purchasing Health Services for Universal Health Coverage: How to Make It More Strategic?" World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/health_financing/documents/how-to-make-purchasing-health-services-more-strategic/en/.
- Mavranezouli, I., and LARC Guideline Development Group. 2008. "The Cost-Effectiveness of Long-Acting Reversible Contraceptive Methods in the UK: Analysis Based on a Decision-Analytic Model Developed for a National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) Clinical Practice Guideline." *Human Reproduction* (Oxford, England) 23 (6): 1338–45. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/den091.
- Mavranezouli, Ifigeneia. 2009. "Health Economics of Contraception." *Best Practice & Research. Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 23 (2): 187–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2008.11.007.
- Mazzilli, Caitlin, Gabrielle Appleford, and Matt Boxshall. 2016. "MSI's Health Financing Assessments 2012-2015: What Did We Learn about UHC Financing and Contraception? Four 'Ps' Matter." Marie Stopes International. https://mariestopes-us.org/2016/msis-health-financing-assessments-2012-2015-learn-uhc-financing-contraception-four-ps-matter/.
- McMartin, K. 2013. "Hysteroscopic Tubal Sterilization: An Evidence-Based Analysis." Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series 13 (21): 1–35.
- "Measurement | Progress Report 2019." 2019. Family Planning 2020. 2019. http://progress.familyplanning2020.org/measurement.
- Miller, Grant. 2005. "Contraception as Development? New Evidence from Family Planning in Colombia." 11704. *NBER Working Papers*. NBER Working Papers. National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc. https://ideas.repec.org/p/nbr/nberwo/11704.html.
- Moga, Carmen, and Dagmara Chojecki. 2016. "Hysteroscopic Tubal Sterilization (Using the Essure® System) An Update." Institute of Health Economics, Canada. https://www.ihe.ca/advanced-search/hysteroscopic-tubal-sterilization-using-the-essure-system-an-update.

- Montouchet, Calypso, and James Trussell. 2013. "Unintended Pregnancies in England IN 2010: Costs to the National Health Service (NHS)." *Contraception* 87 (2): 149–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2012.06.008.
- Mvundura, Mercy, Neeti Nundy, Maggie Kilbourne-Brook, and Patricia S Coffey. 2015. "Estimating the Hypothetical Dual Health Impact and Cost-Effectiveness of the Woman's Condom in Selected Sub-Saharan African Countries." *International Journal of Women's Health* 7 (March): 271–77. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S75040.
- Nakhaee, N, A.R. Mirahmadizadeh, H.A. Gorji, and M. Mohammadi. 2002. "Assessing the Cost-Effectiveness of Contraceptive Methods in Shiraz, Islamic Republic of Iran." Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 8 (1): 55–63.
- National Hospital Insurance Fund, Kenya. 2015. "Explanation of the Benefit Package for the National Scheme." Nairobi, Kenya. http://www.nhif.or.ke/healthinsurance/uploads/customers/benefitspackage.pdf.
- Nemzoff, Cassandra, and Peter Baker. 2020. "Priority-Setting for Better Health: The International Decision Support Initiative." *Center for Global Development*. https://www.cgdev.org/blog/priority-setting-better-health-international-decision-support-initiative.
- "NICE Guideline: Long-Acting Reversible Contraception." 2019. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg30.
- Ontario Health Technology Advisory Committee. 2013. "Hysteroscopic Tubal Sterilization: OHTAC Recommendation." Health Quality Ontario (HQO). http://www.hqontario.ca/Portals/0/Documents/evidence/reports/recommendation-hysteroscopic-sterilization-131004-en.pdf.
- Onwujekwe, Obinna, Chinwe Ogbonna, Ogochukwu Ibe, and Benjamin Uzochukwu. 2013. "Willingness to Pay and Benefit–Cost Analysis of Modern Contraceptives in Nigeria." International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics 122 (2): 94–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2013.03.024.
- "PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT 2005. EVALUATION OF MEDICAID FAMILY PLANNING DEMONSTRATIONS." 2005. Office of the Assistant Secretary of Health and Human Services for Planning and Evaluation. https://aspe.hhs.gov/report/performance-improvement-2005/evaluation-medicaid-family-planning-demonstrations.
- Phillips, C. J. 2000. "Economic Analysis of Long-Term Reversible Contraceptives. Focus on Implanon." *PharmacoEconomics* 17 (2): 209–21. https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200017020-00009.
- Pillay, Yogan, Gerald Manthalu, Hakiba Solange, Velephi Okello, Mikaela Hildebrand, Jesper Sundewall, and Eoghan Brady. 2020. "Health Benefit Packages: Moving from

- Aspiration to Action for Improved Access to Quality SRHR through UHC Reforms." Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters 28 (2): 1842152. https://doi.org/10.1080/26410397.2020.1842152.
- Quaife, Matthew, Fern Terris-Prestholt, Robyn Eakle, Maria A. Cabrera Escobar, Maggie Kilbourne-Brook, Mercy Mvundura, Gesine Meyer-Rath, Sinead Delany-Moretlwe, and Peter Vickerman. 2018. "The Cost-Effectiveness of Multi-Purpose HIV and Pregnancy Prevention Technologies in South Africa." *Journal of the International AIDS Society* 21 (3). https://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25064.
- Raymond, Elizabeth G., James Trussell, and Chelsea B. Polis. 2013. "Cost-Effectiveness of Increased Access to Emergency Contraceptive Pills: Probably Not." *Contraception* 87 (4): 504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2012.11.013.
- "Reality Check." EngenderHealth. https://www.engenderhealth.org/pubs/family-planning/reality-check/.
- Remme, Michelle, Melisa Martinez-Alvarez, and Anna Vassall. 2017. "Cost-Effectiveness Thresholds in Global Health: Taking a Multisectoral Perspective." *Value in Health* 20 (4): 699–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2016.11.009.
- "REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH SUPPLIES VISUALIZER (RH VIZ)." 2020. Reproductive Health Supplies Coalition. 2020. https://www.rhsupplies.org/activities-resources/tools/rh-viz/.
- Revill, Paul, Ajay Rangaraj, Martin Harker, and Amanda Glassman. 2019. "Understanding the Opportunity Cost, Seizing the Opportunity: Report of the Working Group on Incorporating Economics and Modelling in Global Health Goals and Guidelines." Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/understanding-opportunity-cost-seizing-opportunity-report-working-group.
- Rigsby, Devyn, Gabrielle Appleford, and Robert Hecht. 2020. "Transitions in Family Planning: Challenges, Risks, and Opportunities Associated with Upcoming Declines in Donor Health Aid to Middle-Income Countries." Pharos Global Health Advisors. https://pharosglobalhealth.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/40002 CGD-Report FINAL.pdf.
- Rodriguez, Maria Isabel, Aaron B. Caughey, Alison Edelman, Philip D. Darney, and Diana Greene Foster. 2010. "Cost-Benefit Analysis of State- and Hospital-Funded Postpartum Intrauterine Contraception at a University Hospital for Recent Immigrants to the United States." *Contraception* 81 (4): 304–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2009.11.002.
- Rodriguez, Maria Isabel, Jeffrey T. Jensen, Philip D. Darney, Sarah E. Little, and Aaron B. Caughey. 2010. "The Financial Effects of Expanding Postpartum Contraception for New Immigrants." *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 115 (3): 552–558. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181d06f96.

- Ross, John, and John Stover. 2013. "Use of Modern Contraception Increases When More Methods Become Available: Analysis of Evidence from 1982–2009." *Global Health, Science and Practice* 1 (2): 203–12. https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-13-00010.
- Routh, Subrata, and Barkat-e-Khuda. 2000. "An Economic Appraisal of Alternative Strategies for the Delivery of MCH–FP Services in Urban Dhaka, Bangladesh." *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management* 15 (2): 115–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1751(200004/06)15:2<115::AID-HPM586>3.0.CO;2-6.
- Seamans, Yancy, and Claudia M Harner-Jay. 2007. "Modelling Cost-Effectiveness of Different Vasectomy Methods in India, Kenya, and Mexico." *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation: C/E* 5 (July): 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-7547-5-8.
- "Seizing the Moment: How Zambian Sexual and Reproductive Health Advocates Are Accelerating Progress on Universal Health Coverage Financing." 2019. PAI. https://pai.org/resources/how-zambian-srh-advocates-are-accelerating-uhc-financing/.
- "Sexual Health and Its Linkages to Reproductive Health: An Operational Approach." 2017. World Health Organization.

 http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/sexual_health/sh-linkages-rh/en/.
- Shan, Dan, Pei-Yuan Qiu, Yu-Xia Wu, Qian Chen, Ai-Lin Li, Sivakumar Ramadoss, Ran-Ran Wang, and Ya-Yi Hu. 2018. "Pregnancy Outcomes in Women of Advanced Maternal Age: A Retrospective Cohort Study from China." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 12239. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29889-3.
- Silverman, Rachel. 2017. "Chapter 7. Square Pegs, Round Holes: Addressing Health Sector Interventions with Non-Health Benefits." In What's In, What's Out: Designing Benefits for Universal Health Coverage.
- 2018. "Projected Health Financing Transitions: Timeline and Magnitude." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 3310454. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3310454.
- Silverman, Rachel, and Amanda Glassman. 2016. "Aligning to 2020: How FP2020 Donors Can Work Better, Together." https://www.cgdev.org/publication/aligning-2020-how-fp2020-donors-can-work-better-together.
- Silverman, Rachel, Amanda Glassman, and Nancy Birdsall. 2017. "Reproductive Choices to Life Chances: New and Existing Evidence on the Impact of Contraception on Women's Economic Empowerment."

 https://www.cgdev.org/publication/reproductive-choices-life-chances-new-and-existing-evidence-impact-contraception-women.

- Silverman, Rachel, Janeen Madan Keller, Amanda Glassman, and Kalipso Chalkidou. 2019. "Tackling the Triple Transition in Global Health Procurement." https://www.cgdev.org/better-health-procurement.
- Singer Babiarz, Kimberly, Grant Miller, and Christine Valente. 2017. "Family Planning and Women's Economic Empowerment: Incentive Effects and Direct Effects Among Malaysian Women." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 3125137. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3125137.
- Siyu Ma, and Daniel Ollendorf. 2020. "Disability-Adjusted Life Year Conversion CASE STUDY #5: POSTPARTUM HEMORRHAGE CASES TO DALYS." Center for the Evaluation of Value and Risk in Health (CEVR). http://ghcearegistry.org/ghcearegistry/Case Study 5 MC.pdf.
- Sonfield, Adam. 2014. "Beyond Preventing Unplanned Pregnancy: The Broader Benefits of Publicly Funded Family Planning Services." *Guttmacher Policy Review* 17 (4). https://www.guttmacher.org/gpr/2014/12/beyond-preventing-unplanned-pregnancy-broader-benefits-publicly-funded-family-planning.
- Sonfield, Adam, and Kathryn Kost. 2015. "Public Costs from Unintended Pregnancies and the Role of Public Insurance Programs in Paying for Pregnancy-Related Care: National and State Estimates for 2010." *Guttmacher Institute*. https://www.guttmacher.org/report/public-costs-unintended-pregnancies-and-role-public-insurance-programs-paying-pregnancy.
- Sonfield, Adam, Kathryn Kost, Rachel Benson Gold, and Lawrence B. Finer. 2011. "The Public Costs of Births Resulting from Unintended Pregnancies: National and State-Level Estimates." *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 43 (2): 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1363/4309411.
- Sonnenberg, Frank A., Ronald T. Burkman, C. Greg Hagerty, Leon Speroff, and Theodore Speroff. 2004. "Costs and Net Health Effects of Contraceptive Methods." *Contraception* 69 (6): 447–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2004.03.008.
- Starrs, Ann M., Alex C. Ezeh, Gary Barker, Alaka Basu, Jane T. Bertrand, Robert Blum, Awa M. Coll-Seck, et al. 2018. "Accelerate Progress—Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights for All: Report of the Guttmacher–Lancet Commission." *The Lancet* 391 (10140): 2642–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30293-9.
- Stover, John, Karen Hardee, Bella Ganatra, Claudia García Moreno, and Susan Horton. 2016. "Interventions to Improve Reproductive Health." In Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 2), edited by Robert E. Black, Ramanan Laxminarayan, Marleen Temmerman, and Neff Walker. Washington (DC): The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK361913/.

- Stover, John, James E. Rosen, Maria Nadia Carvalho, Eline L. Korenromp, Howard S. Friedman, Matthew Cogan, and Bidia Deperthes. 2017. "The Case for Investing in the Male Condom." *PLOS ONE* 12 (5): e0177108. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177108.
- Sully, Elizabeth, Ann Biddlecom, Jacqueline Darroch, Taylor Riley, Lori S. Ashford, Naomi Lince-Deroche, Lauren Firestein, and Rachel Murro. 2020. "Adding It Up: Investing in Sexual and Reproductive Health 2019." *Guttmacher Institute*. https://www.guttmacher.org/report/adding-it-up-investing-in-sexual-reproductive-health-2019.
- "Taking the Unintended Out of Pregnancy: Colorado's Success with Long-Acting Reversible Contraception." 2017. Prevention Services Division, Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment.

 https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/default/files/PSD_TitleX3_CFPI-Report.pdf.
- The Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health. 2019. Prioritizing essential packages of health services in six countries in sub-Saharan Africa: implications and lessons for SRHR.

 https://www.who.int/pmnch/media/news/2019/WHO One PMNCH report.pdf?

 ua=1
- "The Total Market Approach (TMA) Projection Tool." 2019. Health Policy Plus. http://www.healthpolicyplus.com/TMAProjectionTool.cfm.
- Thiel, John A., and George D. Carson. 2008. "Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Comparing the Essure Tubal Sterilization Procedure and Laparoscopic Tubal Sterilization." *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada: JOGC = Journal d'obstetrique et Gynecologie Du Canada: JOGC* 30 (7): 581–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1701-2163(16)32891-2.
- Thomas, Christine M., and Sharon Cameron. 2013. "Can We Reduce Costs and Prevent More Unintended Pregnancies? A Cost of Illness and Cost-Effectiveness Study Comparing Two Methods of EHC." *BMJ Open* 3 (12): e003815. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003815.
- Toronto Health Economic and Technology Assessment (THETA) Collaborative. 2013. "Hysteroscopic Tubal Sterilization: A Health Economic Literature Review." *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series* 13 (22): 1–25.
- Trussell, James, Fareen Hassan, Nathaniel Henry, Jennifer Pocoski, Amy Law, and Anna Filonenko. 2014. "Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Levonorgestrel-Releasing Intrauterine System (LNG-IUS) 13.5 Mg in Contraception." *Contraception* 89 (5): 451–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2013.10.019.

- Trussell, James, Fareen Hassan, Julia Lowin, Amy Law, and Anna Filonenko. 2015. "Achieving Cost-Neutrality with Long-Acting Reversible Contraceptive Methods." *Contraception* 91 (1): 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2014.08.011.
- Trussell, James, Nathaniel Henry, Fareen Hassan, Alexander Prezioso, Amy Law, and Anna Filonenko. 2013. "Burden of Unintended Pregnancy in the United States: Potential Savings with Increased Use of Long-Acting Reversible Contraception." *Contraception* 87 (2): 154–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2012.07.016.
- Trussell, James, Anjana M. Lalla, Quan V. Doan, Eileen Reyes, Lionel Pinto, and Joseph Gricar. 2009. "Cost Effectiveness of Contraceptives in the United States." *Contraception* 79 (1): 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2008.08.003.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2020. "Estimates and Projections of Family Planning Indicators." New York. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/theme/family-planning/cp_model.asp.
- Varney, Susan J., and Julian F. Guest. 2004. "Relative Cost Effectiveness of Depo-Provera®, Implanon®, and Mirena® in Reversible Long-Term Hormonal Contraception in the UK." *PharmacoEconomics* 22 (17): 1141–51. https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200422170-00004.
- Walker, Simon, Susan Griffin, Miqdad Asaria, Aki Tsuchiya, and Mark Sculpher. 2019. "Striving for a Societal Perspective: A Framework for Economic Evaluations When Costs and Effects Fall on Multiple Sectors and Decision Makers." *Applied Health Economics and Health Policy* 17 (5): 577–90.
- Washington, Chantel I., Roxanne Jamshidi, Stephen F. Thung, Unzila A. Nayeri, Aaron B. Caughey, and Erika F. Werner. 2015. "Timing of Postpartum Intrauterine Device Placement: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis." *Fertility and Sterility* 103 (1): 131–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.09.032.
- Whitehead, Sarah J., and Shehzad Ali. 2010. "Health Outcomes in Economic Evaluation: The QALY and Utilities." *British Medical Bulletin* 96 (1): 5–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldq033.
- WHO and UNICEF Joint Reporting Form. 2019. "Immunization Financing Indicators." World Health Organization.

 http://www.who.int/immunization/programmes-systems/financing/data-indicators/en/.
- Win et al. 2018. "Family Planning Spending Assessment in Myanmar." Track20. http://www.track20.org/download/pdf/FPSA Myanmar 2018.pdf.
- Witter, Sophie, Veloshnee Govender, TK Sundari Ravindran, and Robert Yates. 2017. "Minding the Gaps: Health Financing, Universal Health Coverage and Gender."

- Health Policy and Planning 32 (suppl_5): v4–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czx063.
- Woetzel, Jonathan, Anu Madgavkar, James Manyika, Kweilin Ellingrud, Vivian Hunt, and Mekala Krushnan. 2016. "Realizing Gender Equality's \$12 Trillion Economic Opportunity | McKinsey." McKinsey & Company. https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/employment-and-growth/realizing-gender-equalitys-12-trillion-economic-opportunity.
- World Bank. 2017. "Revealing the Missing Link: Private Sector Supply-Side Readiness for Primary Maternal Health Services in Indonesia."

 http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/418491498057482805/pdf/116608-REVISED-PUBLIC-Maternal-Health-23-July-2018-lores.pdf#page=34.
- "World Bank Country and Lending Groups World Bank Data Help Desk." World Bank. https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519.
- World Health Organization. 2019. "World Health Organization Model List of Essential Medicines." 21st List. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/325771/WHO-MVP-EMP-IAU-2019.06-eng.pdf?ua=1.
- Wright, Jenna, Karishmah Bhuwanee, Ffyona Patel, Jeanna Holtz, Thierry van Bastelaer, and Rena Eichler. 2017. "Financing of Universal Health Coverage and Family Planning: A Multi-Regional Landscape Study and Analysis of Select West African Countries." Health Finance and Governance Project, Abt Associates. https://www.hfgproject.org/financing-universal-health-coverage-family-planning-multi-regional-landscape-study-analysis-select-west-african-countries/.
- Wright, Jenna, and Jeanna Holtz. 2017. "Essential Packages of Health Services in 24 Countries: Findings from a Cross-Country Analysis." Bethesa, Maryland: Health Finance and Governance Project, Abt Associates. https://www.hfgproject.org/ephscross-country-analysis/.
- Zakiyah, Neily, A. D. I. van Asselt, D. Setiawan, Q. Cao, F. Roijmans, and M. J. Postma. 2019. "Cost-Effectiveness of Scaling Up Modern Family Planning Interventions in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: An Economic Modeling Analysis in Indonesia and Uganda." Applied Health Economics and Health Policy 17 (1): 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40258-018-0430-6.

Appendix 1. Workshop participants

Augustine Ankomah, Population Council

Felice Apter, Center for Global Development

Anisa Berdellima, Marie Stopes International

Lethia Bernard, PAI

Nathan Blanchet, Results for Development

Linda Cahaelen, US Agency for International Development

James Droop, UK Department for International Development (now Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office)

Arin Dutta, Palladium

Cynthia Eldridge, Impact for Health

Priya Emmart, Avenir Health

Kamil Fuseini, Population Council

Amanda Glassman, Center for Global Development

Jay Gribble, Palladium Group

Kia Guarino, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation

Brendan Hayes, Global Financing Facility

Anna Hazelwood, UK Department for International Development (now Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office)

Jeanna Holtz, Abt Associates Inc.

Rebecca Husband, Population Services International

Chonghee Hwang, Family Planning 2020

Jeffrey Jordan, Population Reference Bureau

Aparna Kamath, Clinton Health Access Initiative

Julia Kaufman, Center for Global Development

Janeen Madan Keller, Center for Global Development

Supriya Madhavan, Global Financing Facility

Anooj Pattnaik, ThinkWell

Saumya RamaRao, Population Council

Matiko Riro, Clinton Health Access Initiative

Pellavi Sharma, US Agency for International Development

Rachel Silverman, Center for Global Development

Robyn Sneeringer, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation

Charlotte Soulary, Reproductive Health Supplies Coalition

Scott Stewart, US Agency for International Development

Adam Wexler, Kaiser Family Foundation

Varina Winder, Family Planning 2020

Appendix 2. PRISMA flow diagram of search strategy

